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lunier's JTron Works was built on theqlappahanuock
River, the eighteenth century towns oL rredericksburg

and Talmouth. An advertisemeat for the sale of the complex in the
l;uderlcksourg Herald of May 18, 1798, provides a description of the building
then standing:

The Iron Works and Mills - - - consisting of a Forge 128

feet by 51 feet, eight fires and 4 hammers, a coal house

80 feet by 40 feet, a merchant mill 70 feet by 36 feet

with two pairs of French burnstones (burstomes). . .a grist mill 20

feet by 18 feet , . . a saw mill 55 feet by 11 feer . . .

Contiguous thereto are a stable 54 feet by 27 feet . . .

a nailery, a tanmyard, coopers, carpenters, and wheelwright

shops . . . and houses for the managers and workmen.

flene of the walls of the buildings associated with the Revolutionary-
period operation remain standing above ground level. IHowever, rough-laid
stone foundations of more than twenty structures are visable on the lowland
beside the river and up the hill that rises above it. A .rumber of building
gites have been dug into in search of relics, but most are at least partiallyi
undisturbed. 7The area is wooded, the only modern encroachments being a 1
relephona line bisecting the site and one modern house. !
Wo detailed archaeological study has been made of the iron works, so ‘

the functivas of most of the kmown buildings are undertermined. Specific
sjces of note within the complex ara:

T

Buildirg A ~ The stone foundations of this building, 27" thick and measuring
A Ly 84', are refarred to locally as the forge. The dimensions, however,
arz more closely comparable to the coal house mentioned in the 1798
advertisement. Trenches have lately been dug around the foundations, but
the interior f£ill of the structure is largely undisturbed, A dark coal dust
or ash layer lies beneath the sod within the walls.

T-il;ing B ~ A stone fouundation between the dam and forge sites, measuring
by 27', and of unknown purpose,

Duilding C ~ 20' by 40' stone foundation of unknown purpose.

Building D ~ 16' by 20' stone foundation of unknown purpose.
Building E - Porcions of a stone foundation are visable at this point. Two
finely-vorked stone blocks with decorative moldings on edges are visable in
the Loose rubble. :

Dam - Stone rubble in a creek bed cast of the forge appears to indicate the
lccation of a dam, vhose water supply provided power for the forge.

Brick Structure - The remains of an unusual brick structure were dug imto
during construction of a house atop the hill in 1973. The structure appeared
to be narrow (10' or less wide), and proporticnately long, although neither
end was uncovered. Iron ingots marked ''Occoquon' found in the ruins are
probably from a furnace of that name which operated on Occoquan Creek in
P.lnce Willxam Lounty from 1/)5 o 1765. Also found were oversized bricks
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that Rad been exposed to extreme heat and pairs of various sized bricks that
had bezn pressed togsther before firing. ‘The latter may have formed a duct
syszem usad to heat the wolds in a casting operation. Such a system Is
illusirated by Lenis Diderot in “Sculpture, Forte des Statues Equestres," in
plate voiume 8 of 1.'Encyclopedie. The form of these bricks and the foundation'
shape may indicate that this structure was associaled with the casting process.
although the brickwork and f£ill were somewhat disturbed by mechanical
ezcavation in 1973, most of the below-ground portion of the structure appears
to Le intact.
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STATEMENT OF SISNIFICANCE
Called "one of the finest and most comsiderable iron works in North
America' by the eilghteenth-century traveler Johm David Schopf, Huntexr Iron
Works played a vital role in supplying equipment for American forces in the
Revolutiopary War, In addition to its historical significance, the site of
lHnnter Tron Works provides an exceptional opportunity to study, through
archaeological excavation, the iron manufacture industry of the period.
James Hunter came to Virginia {in 1746 at the age of 25, and in the
naxt quarter century he established himself as a leading Falmouth merchant,
and perhaps &s early as 1750, started the iron works. In 1772 John T. D.
Smith, traveling threough the area, noted that Hunter was operating "a ver
valuadla forge, and icon works." With the outbreak of war with Great
britain, Tuuter's operation became important to the patriot cause. In May,
1776, 104 poands of powder was alotted for testing arms at Munter's and the
gun manvfactory at Fredericksburg, and in February, 1777, the Governcr's
Counecil requested Uunter to manufacture arms sufficient to equip a regiment
ot cavalcy,
The success of the iron works was a matter of concern for Virgiaia's
Revoluticnary~period gevernment, Patrick Henry wrote in May, 1777:
"As there was no Manufactory of Iron in the State which was carried om to
such an Extent, and to Purpose of such vast Importance as Mr. Hunter's near
Fredericksburg, I took the Liberty of promising him the Assistance of the
Public in the Prosecutior of his works on a more enlarged Plan.”
Accokzek Iron Works was not supplying sufficlent iron for Yunter's 'many
extensive factories, slitting, planting, and wire mills,” so also in May,
1777, the assembly acted to allow Hunter to take over the Accokeek operation
Govarnor Jefferson wrote to Hunter on January 10, 1781, to inform
him that he had ordered General George Weedon, commander of the Fredericksbu
nilitia, to protect the iron works from Tarletom's Raiders. Hunter replied
on January 25 that he too had taken steps to defend the industry from attack
fluntex's letter gives some indication of the great quantities of equipment
which be supplied to the Continental Army. He requested payment of a
warrant for 50,000 ian tobacco and for certificates from General Gates
totallingX 120,000.
James Mercer described the significance of the iron works in an
April 14, 1781 letter to Jefferson: .
it is from Mr. Hunter's Works that every camp kettle has
been supplied for the continental and all other troops
enployed in this State, and to the southward. All the
anchors for this State and Maryland and some for the
continent have been produced from the same works; that
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the planters hereabouts and to the southward - - -

wvould not be able to make bread to eat.

4 communication from Hunter to Colonel Oliver Towles of November 22, 1781,
describes some of the equipment he was producing. He had lately resumed the
manufacture of small arma, and his workmen were repairing th2 machinary used
for grinding and boring of guns, Supplies ready for use included "one traveligg
FYorge with its utensils aand Harners complate,” approximately 500 bridle bits
and a quantity of curry combs, and 1,000 horsemans swords "to the pattern
forwvarded from General Green's Army by order of Colonel Washington." The
nattern referred to was a British sword captured at Guilford Court House, which
had Leen sent to Hunter in March to be reproduced. Another reference of
November, 1781, notes that the iron works produced stove pipes for military
hospitals.

Hunter never received payment for much of the supplies he produced, and
the iron works ceased to be a viable operation soon after the Revolution.

John Schopf, who visited Falmouth in 1783-84 stated however, that Hunter's

was then still a najor industry. He further noted that "™dore than 6-800 tons
ere workad theve yearly . . . These works are distinguished besides a rolling
sivd a slitting will, and of this there are only two or three in America."”
hinter died in 178%, and in 1738 the iron works were advertiszed ifor sale, 'he
prepeTty was oecupied by soldiers during the Waxr Between the States, and
artifacts of thult period fndicate that some of the buildings surviving from
lhtev's operation may have been occupied then.

Only a limited amount of archaeological work has bezn done on Revolutionary-
pericd munufacturing sites ia the United States. Although some of Hunter's
tuilding sites have been disturbed, careful excavation of tha iron works
complei could provide much inforwation about one of Virginia's major industrie$
oi the period and eighteenth century iron manufacture in general. The iron
work's wooded and unspoiled situation, located on the outskirts of Fredericksbdr
& city itself closely associated with the American Revolution, makes it a site
vorthy of park designation and development.
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